IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

STATE OF IOWA,

Plaintiff-Appellee,

v.

MYCHAEL RICHARD PATTEN,

Defendant-Appellant.

SUPREME COURT
NO. 21-0101

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR NORTH LEE COUNTY
THE HONORABLE JOHN M. WRIGHT, JUDGE

APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND ARGUMENT
AND
REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

MARTHA J. LUCEY
State Appellate Defender

JOSH IRWIN
Assistant Appellate Defender
jirwin@spd.state.ia.us
appellatedefender@spd.state.ia.us

STATE APPELLATE DEFENDER'S OFFICE
Fourth Floor Lucas Building
Des Moines, Iowa 50319
(515) 281-8841 / (515) 281-7281 FAX

ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANT-APPELLANT FINAL

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Whether the State breached the plea agreement by indicating to the court that it did not endorse the agreed-upon sentencing recommendation?

Authorities

State v. Boldon, 954 N.W.2d 62, 71 (Iowa 2021)

State v. King, 576 N.W.2d 369, 370 (Iowa 1998)

State v. Frencher, 873 N.W.2d 281, 284 (Iowa Ct. App. 2015)

State v. Beres, 943 N.W.2d 575, 582 (Iowa 2020)

State v. Horness, 600 N.W.2d 294, 299 (Iowa 1999)

ABA Standards for Criminal Justice 3-6.1(a) (2d ed.1980)

State v. Edwards, 279 N.W.2d 9, 11 (Iowa 1979)

State v. Bearse, 748 N.W.2d 211, 218 (Iowa 2008)

State v. Lopez, 872 N.W.2d 159, n. 7 (Iowa 2015)

United States v. Cachucha, 484 F.3d 1266, 1270–71 (10th Cir. 2007)

State v. Schlachter, 884 N.W.2d 782, n. 7 (Iowa Ct. App. 2016)

State v. Fannon, 799 N.W.2d 515 (Iowa 2011)

United States v. Brown, 500 F.2d 375, 377 (4th Cir. 1974)

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case should be transferred to the Court of Appeals because the issues raised involve the application of existing legal principles. Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(2)(d) and 6.1101(3)(a).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

The defendant-appellant, Mychael Richard Patten, appeals from his sentences for domestic abuse assault causing bodily injury (strangulation) in violation of Iowa Code sections 708.2A(1) and 708.2A(5) (2019), child endangerment in violation of Iowa Code sections 726.6(1)(a) and 726.6(7) (2019), assault with a dangerous weapon in violation of Iowa Code sections 708.1(2)(c) and 708.2(3), and false imprisonment in violation of Iowa Code section 710.7 (2019).

Course of Proceedings

The State charged Mychael Patten with domestic abuse assault causing bodily injury (strangulation), a class D felony, child endangerment, an aggravated misdemeanor, assault with

a dangerous weapon, an aggravated misdemeanor, and false imprisonment, a serious misdemeanor, by trial information filed September 14, 2020. (Trial Information pp. 1–2) (App. pp. 4-5). Patten filed a written arraignment, plea of not guilty, and speedy trial demand on September 22, 2020. (Written Arraignment) (App. p. 7).

On November 20, 2020, Patten filed a written plea of guilty, indicating his consent to plead guilty as charged to all counts. (Guilty Plea p. 1) (App. p. 8). Patten agreed to “obtain a mental health evaluation within 90 days of the Judgment Entry,” “complete any and all recommendations as a result of that evaluation, and provide proof of compliance with the Court.” (Guilty Plea p. 1) (App. p. 8). Additionally, the written plea form stated that a sentencing no contact order would be “entered between the Defendant and Mary French.” (Guilty Plea p. 1) (App. p. 8). In exchange for Patten’s guilty plea, the State agreed to recommend “a suspended sentence on each count, each running consecutive to one another for a

total suspended sentence of 10 years,” as well as recommending “the minimum fine on each Count, plus court costs and surcharges,” and that Patten “be placed on formal probation for a term of at least 2 years, but no more than 5 years.” (Guilty Plea p. 1; Memorandum to Plea Agreement) (App. pp. 8, 15). The form contained factual basis language which tracked the applicable portions of the code sections involved, and also permitted the court to determine whether a factual basis existed by “examining the Minutes of Testimony attached, by reviewing the investigative reports of law enforcement agencies who have investigated the offense, or by asking counsel or [Patten] for a recitation and summary of the material facts that would be offered at trial.” (Guilty Plea p. 2) (App. p. 9). The district court accepted Patten’s plea, ordered a presentence investigation report, and scheduled sentencing for January 8, 2021. (Order Setting Sentencing p. 1) (App. p. 12).

During the sentencing hearing, the prosecutor emphasized that the “sole reason” the State was agreeing to recommend a suspended sentence was because of the victim’s request. (Sentencing Tr. pp 5–6). The district court sentenced Patten to a term of incarceration not to exceed five years on count I, a term of incarceration not to exceed two years on count II, a term of incarceration not to exceed two years on count III, and a term of incarceration of one year on count IV. (Sentencing Tr. p. 15 L. 22–p. 16 L. 8). During the hearing, the court stated that “[t]he balance is suspended,” but in its written order the court indicated that only the one year sentence on count IV was being suspended. (Sentencing Tr. p. 16 L. 8–9; Order of Disposition pp. 2–3) (App. pp. 17-18). The court further stated “Counts II and III shall run concurrent with each other. Those terms shall run consecutive to Count I, for a total of seven years. And Count IV shall run consecutive to Counts I, II, and III.” (Sentencing Tr. p. 17 L. 1–5).

Patten filed a timely notice of appeal on January 22, 2021. (Notice of Appeal) (App. p. 20).

Facts

Mary French reported to the Fort Madison Police Department that on the morning of September 6, 2020, she was asleep in bed when her husband Mychael Patten woke her at approximately 1:00 a.m. (Minutes Attachment p. 1) (Conf. App. p. 6). She reported Patten was very upset because he had seen something on her phone that made him believe she was seeing another man. (Minutes Attachment p. 1) (Conf. App. p. 6). She reported their three-year-old child had been asleep in another room but was awakened by Patten's shouting. (Minutes Attachment p. 1) (Conf. App. p. 6). French began packing to leave, but Patten stopped her, grabbed her neck, and threw her onto a bed. (Minutes Attachment p. 1) (Conf. App. p. 6). She stated that when Patten grabbed her neck, she had difficulty breathing. (Minutes Attachment p. 1) (Conf. App. p. 6).

French reported Patten retrieved a handgun, sat down near her, and threatened to kill her. (Minutes Attachment p. 1) (Conf. App. p. 6). French reported Patten told her to stay in the bedroom and pointed the gun at her several times.

(Minutes Attachment p. 1) (Conf. App. p. 6). French reported that at one point the child entered the room; French stated Patten asked the child if she “wanted to shoot mommy.”

(Minutes Attachment p. 1) (Conf. App. p. 6). French stated Patten did not offer the child the gun, but that the child likely saw it. (Minutes Attachment p. 1) (Conf. App. p. 6).

Police spoke with Patten, who admitted grabbing French by the neck and asking French why he should not shoot her. (Minutes Attachment p. 2) (Conf. App. p. 7). He denied ever pointing the gun at French, but acknowledged it had been in his lap. (Minutes Attachment p. 2) (Conf. App. p. 7). He admitted he told French that she could not leave. (Minutes Attachment p. 3) (Conf. App. p. 8).

Police conducted a warrant search of Patten's home and located a handgun after Patten told them where it was.

(Minutes Attachment p. 3) (Conf. App. p. 8).

Jurisdictional Statement

Iowa Code section 814.6(1)(a)(3) requires an appellant who has pled guilty to establish "good cause" to appeal. Iowa Code § 814.6(1)(a)(3) (Supp. 2020). Patten alleges the State breached the plea agreement by failing to endorse the agreed-upon sentencing recommendation, and therefore he has "good cause to pursue this direct appeal as a matter of right." See State v. Boldon, 954 N.W.2d 62, 68 (Iowa 2021).

ARGUMENT

The State breached the plea agreement by indicating to the court that it did not endorse the agreed-upon sentencing recommendation.

Preservation of Error

"A prosecutor's breach of the plea agreement at sentencing irreparably taints the sentencing proceeding and a claim of breach is reviewable on direct appeal even in the

absence of contemporaneous objection.” State v. Boldon, 954 N.W.2d 62, 71 (Iowa 2021).

Standard of Review

Review of an allegation that the State breached a plea agreement during sentencing is for errors at law. State v. King, 576 N.W.2d 369, 370 (Iowa 1998). “The relevant inquiry in determining whether the prosecutor breached the plea agreement is whether the prosecutor acted contrary to the common purpose of the plea agreement and the justified expectations of the defendant and thereby effectively deprived the defendant of the benefit of the bargain.” State v. Boldon, 954 N.W.2d 62, 71 (Iowa 2021) (quoting State v. Frencher, 873 N.W.2d 281, 284 (Iowa Ct. App. 2015)).

Discussion

In State v. Beres, the Iowa Supreme Court summarized the prosecutorial duty with regard to plea agreements:

“Plea bargains are akin to contracts.” *State v. Macke*, 933 N.W.2d 226, 238 (Iowa 2019) (Mansfield, J., concurring in part and dissenting in part); see also *Rhoades v. State*, 880 N.W.2d 431, 449 (Iowa

2016) (“A plea bargain also may be regarded as a contract where both sides ordinarily obtain a benefit.”). “[W]hen a plea rests in any significant degree on a promise or agreement of the prosecutor, so that it can be said to be part of the inducement or consideration [for the plea], such promise must be fulfilled.” *State v. Lopez*, 872 N.W.2d 159, 170 (Iowa 2015) (second alteration in original) (quoting *Santobello v. New York*, 404 U.S. 257, 262, 92 S. Ct. 495, 499, 30 L.Ed.2d 427 (1971)). A “prosecutor's obligation to scrupulously comply with the letter and spirit of the agreements” means that even technical compliance will not suffice if the prosecutor otherwise “undercut[s] the plea agreement.” *Id.* at 173.

We have “recogniz[ed] the important role plea agreements play in our scheme of justice and the concomitant need for strict compliance with those agreements.” *State v. Bearse*, 748 N.W.2d 211, 215 (Iowa 2008). For this reason, Iowa courts “are compelled to hold prosecutors and courts to the most meticulous standards of both promise and performance.” *Id.* (quoting *State v. Horness*, 600 N.W.2d 294, 298 (Iowa 1999)). Accordingly, “‘violations of either the terms or the spirit of the agreement’ require reversal of the conviction or vacation of the sentence.” *Id.* (quoting *Horness*, 600 N.W.2d at 298).

State v. Beres, 943 N.W.2d 575, 582 (Iowa 2020). Justice Appel’s concurrence in Beres emphasized that a plea bargain is more than just an average contract; it is “a constitutional contract” which “obviously has procedural and substantive

due process implications.” Id. at 587 (Appel, J., concurring specially).

“It is clear that the State's promise to recommend specific sentences to the court requires the prosecutor to present the recommended sentences with his or her approval, to commend these sentences to the court, and to otherwise indicate to the court that the recommended sentences are supported by the State and worthy of the court's acceptance.” State v. Horness, 600 N.W.2d 294, 299 (Iowa 1999). This requirement “complements the prosecutor’s duty ‘to assure that a fair and informed judgment is made on the sentence.’ If the prosecutor keeps this duty in mind when negotiating a plea agreement, so that any agreed-upon sentencing recommendation is ‘fair’ under the circumstances, then the prosecutor should have no problem in truly recommending the negotiated sentence to the court.” Id. at 299 (internal citation omitted) (quoting ABA Standards for Criminal Justice 3-6.1(a) (2d ed.1980)). “Violations or casual withdrawals of these

agreements after detrimental reliance by the defendant are intolerable and adversely impact the integrity of the prosecutorial office and the entire judicial system.” State v. King, 576 N.W.2d 369, 370 (Iowa 1998) (citing State v. Edwards, 279 N.W.2d 9, 11 (Iowa 1979)). “Our system of justice . . . does not allow prosecutors to make sentencing recommendations with a wink and a nod. The concept of justice has a far greater meaning.” State v. Bearse, 748 N.W.2d 211, 218 (Iowa 2008).

The Iowa Supreme Court has quoted with approval federal authority which stated “[w]hile a prosecutor normally need not present promised recommendations to the court with any particular degree of enthusiasm, it is improper for the prosecutor to inject material reservations about the agreement to which the government has committed itself.” State v. Lopez, 872 N.W.2d 159, n. 7 (Iowa 2015) (quoting United States v. Cachucha, 484 F.3d 1266, 1270–71 (10th Cir. 2007)).

The Iowa Court of Appeals noted after surveying cases on the subject that “[i]n each case, as set out above, where the prosecutor has been held to have breached the plea agreement, there was something the prosecutor said that implicitly or explicitly undermined the plea agreement.” State v. Schlachter, 884 N.W.2d 782, n. 7 (Iowa Ct. App. 2016); see Lopez, 872 N.W.2d at 179–80; State v. Fannon, 799 N.W.2d 515 (Iowa 2011); Bearse, 748 N.W.2d at 216; Horness, 600 N.W.2d at 296–97.

When the State breaches a plea agreement by failing to honor its promise to endorse a particular sentencing recommendation, the remedy is “to remand the case for resentencing by a different judge, with the prosecutor obligated to honor the plea agreement and sentencing recommendation.” Lopez, 872 N.W.2d at 181 (citations omitted).

In the case at bar, the prosecutor failed to voice her approval of the sentencing recommendation, and instead

implied her disapproval. When asked for the State's sentencing recommendation, the prosecutor said:

Your Honor, the State is asking that the Court adopt the plea agreement that is outlined in the Presentence Investigation Report that was agreed to by the parties.

For the Court's information, the sole reason for this recommendation by the State is based on conversations with the victim herself. And ordinarily that doesn't necessarily drive the State's recommendation, but based on the conversations with her and her sincere desire for the Defendant to be able to have a relationship with his daughter, she felt that that was of utmost importance and priority to give him this opportunity for a suspended sentence on these matters, with the special provision that he obtain a mental health evaluation and successfully complete all recommended treatment; that that evaluation occur within ninety days of today's date, if that has not already been done, but as well issue a sentencing no contact order between herself and the Defendant.

(Sentencing Tr. p. 5 L. 1–25). A moment later, the prosecutor repeated: “for the Court's information, that is the sole driving force and the reason for the State's recommendation in this matter.” (Sentencing Tr. p. 6 L. 15–18).

The prosecutor's comments fell well short of the prosecutorial duty “to present the recommended sentences

with his or her approval, to commend these sentences to the court, and to otherwise indicate to the court that the recommended sentences are supported by the State and worthy of the court's acceptance.” See Horness, 600 N.W.2d at 299 (citing United States v. Brown, 500 F.2d 375, 377 (4th Cir. 1974)). She never recited the agreed-upon recommendation herself, instead merely directing the court to the recitation contained in the PSI. (Sentencing Tr. p. 5 L. 1–5). She never indicated that Patten was worthy or deserving of the recommended sentence. She never indicated that the recommended sentence would be an appropriate or just outcome. In fact, she made no recommendation of her own at all, and instead expressed her disapproval of the plea agreement by twice emphasizing that “the sole” reason the State entered into the agreement was the victim’s request, repeated to the court with palpable reluctance. (Sentencing Tr. p. 5 L. 7, p. 6 L. 16). The prosecutor “inject[ed] material reservations about the agreement to which the government

[had] committed itself.” See Lopez, 872 N.W.2d at n. 7 (citing Cachucha, 484 F.3d at 1270–71)).

“Iowa courts ‘are compelled to hold prosecutors and courts to the most meticulous standards of both promise and performance.’” Beres, 943 N.W.2d at 582 (quoting Bearse, 784 N.W.2d at 215)). The prosecutor’s statements to the sentencing court did not meet those meticulous standards; they were contrary to the spirit of, and actively undermined, the plea agreement. The State breached the plea agreement by implying its disapproval of the agreed-upon sentencing recommendation.

Conclusion

The prosecutor’s comments during sentencing fell far short of the requirement that the State endorse the agreed-upon sentencing recommendation. Instead, the prosecutor implied her disapproval of the agreement, repeatedly stating that the “sole reason” for the State’s recommendation was the request of the victim. The State breached the plea agreement

by implying its disapproval of the agreed-upon sentencing recommendation. As a result, Patten's sentence should be vacated and the case remanded for re-sentencing before a different judge.

REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

Counsel requests to be heard in oral argument.

ATTORNEY'S COST CERTIFICATE

The undersigned, hereby certifies that the true cost of producing the necessary copies of the foregoing Brief and Argument was \$2.13, and that amount has been paid in full by the Office of the Appellate Defender.