IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA Supreme Court No. 21-0101

STATE OF IOWA, Plaintiff-Appellee,

VS.

MYCHAEL RICHARD PATTEN, Defendant-Appellant.

> APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR NORTH LEE COUNTY THE HONORABLE JOHN M. WRIGHT, JUDGE

APPELLEE'S BRIEF

THOMAS J. MILLER Attorney General of Iowa

THOMAS J. OGDEN

Assistant Attorney General Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor Des Moines, Iowa 50319 (515) 281-5976 (515) 281-4902 (fax) thomas.ogden@iowa.gov

ROSS BRADEN Lee County Attorney

KIMBERLY A. AUGE Assistant County Attorney

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

FINAL

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. The State Did Not Breach the Plea Agreement.

Authorities

United States v. Cachucha, 484 F.3d 1266 (10th Cir. 2007)

State v. Boldon, 954 N.W.2d 62 (Iowa 2021)

State v. Brown, No. 16-2051, 2017 WL 4317315 (Iowa Ct. App. Sept. 27, 2017)

State v. Damme, 944 N.W.2d 98 (Iowa 2020)

State v. King, 576 N.W.2d 369 (Iowa 1998)

State v. Otero, No. 15-1175, 2016 WL 1133847 (Iowa Ct. App. Mar. 23, 2016)

State v. Pearl, No. 13-0796, 2014 WL 1714490 (Iowa Ct. App. Apr. 30, 2014)

State v. Schlachter, 884 N.W.2d 782 (Iowa Ct. App. 2016)

Iowa Code § 814.6(1)(a)(3)

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case can be decided based on existing legal principles.

Transfer to the Court of Appeals is appropriate. Iowa R. App. P.

6.1101(3).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

This is a direct appeal from Mychael Patten's convictions for domestic abuse assault by strangulation, child endangerment, assault with a dangerous weapon, and false imprisonment. He argues that the State breached the plea agreement when it explained that the victim's request was the reason for agreeing to recommend a suspended sentence.

Course of Proceedings & Facts

The State accepts the course of proceedings and statement of facts as set forth in Patten's brief as adequate and essentially correct. Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(3). Any additional relevant facts will be discussed as part of the State's argument.

ARGUMENT

I. The State Did Not Breach the Plea Agreement.

Statement on Good Cause

Patten "bears the burden of establishing good cause to pursue an appeal of [his] conviction based on a guilty plea." *State v. Boldon*, 954 N.W.2d 62, 69 (Iowa 2021) (quoting *State v. Damme*, 944 N.W.2d 98, 104 (Iowa 2020)); *see also* Iowa Code § 814.6(1)(a)(3). "A sentencing error invariably arises after the court has accepted the guilty plea. This timing provides a legally sufficient reason to appeal notwithstanding the guilty plea." *Id.* Patten contends the State tainted the sentencing hearing when it breached the parties' plea agreement at the time of sentencing. Because Patten challenges the sentencing hearing, he has established good cause to pursue this direct appeal as a matter of right. *See Boldon*, 954 N.W.2d at 69.

Preservation of Error

"While some forms of sentencing error require a timely objection or challenge to preserve an issue for appellate review, an allegation the prosecutor breached the plea agreement at the time of sentencing is a species of sentencing error to which the traditional rules of error preservation are inapplicable."

Boldon, 954 N.W.2d at 70.

Standard of Review

Review of the State's alleged breach of the plea agreement is for errors at law. *State v. King*, 576 N.W.2d 369, 370 (Iowa 1998).

Merits

The relevant inquiry in determining whether the prosecutor breached the plea agreement is whether the prosecutor acted contrary to the common purpose of the plea agreement and the justified expectations of the defendant and thereby effectively deprived the defendant of the benefit of the bargain. Where the prosecutor has agreed to make a particular sentencing recommendation, the prosecutor must do more than simply inform the court of the promise the State has made to the defendant with respect to sentencing. The State must actually fulfill the promise.

Boldon, 954 N.W.2d at 71 (cleaned up). In this case, the parties agreed that Patten would plead guilty as charged in exchange for a joint recommendation of a suspended sentence on each count, each running consecutive to one another, for a total suspended sentence of ten years. Written Plea; App. 8-11.

At sentencing, the State asked the court to adopt the recommendation of the plea agreement. Sent. Tr. P.5 Ls.1-5. It explained to the court that after having conversations with the victim, who expressed a "sincere desire for the Defendant to be able to have a relationship with his daughter," it concluded that a suspended

sentence was an appropriate recommendation provided that Patten obtain a mental health evaluation within 90 days, successfully complete all recommended treatment, and that a no contact order be put in place between Patten and the victim. Sent. Tr. P.5 Ls.9-25.

Patten argues that the State breached the plea agreement by explaining its motivation and the victim's desire to see Patten get a suspended sentence. But it did not. "While a prosecutor normally need not present promised recommendations to the court with any particular degree of enthusiasm, it is improper for the prosecutor to inject material reservations about the agreement to which the government has committed itself." Boldon, 954 N.W.2d at 71 (quoting United States v. Cachucha, 484 F.3d 1266, 1270-71 (10th Cir. 2007)). Examples of a "material reservation" include expressing regret for the agreement, referring to a different sentencing recommendation from the presentence investigation, reminding the district court that it is not bound by the agreement, or emphasizing the horrific nature of the offense using witnesses and exhibits. *Id.* at 71-72. The State did none of that in this case.

The State's explanation of its motivation for the agreement provided context for the district court and did not undermine its recommendation. *See*, *e.g.*, *State v. Brown*, No. 16-2051, 2017 WL 4317315, at *1 (Iowa Ct. App. Sept. 27, 2017) (finding no breach where State asked court to take judicial notice of prior deferred judgment but did not resist request for deferred judgment); *State v. Schlachter*, 884 N.W.2d 782, 786 (Iowa Ct. App. 2016) (holding no breach where the prosecutor's recitation of a defendant's criminal history provided context where the presentence investigation report was unavailable); *State v. Otero*, No. 15-1175, 2016 WL 1133847, at *3 (Iowa Ct. App. Mar. 23, 2016) (finding no breach where prosecutor referenced dismissed charges to inform the court an agreement had been reached); *State v. Pearl*, No. 13-0796, 2014 WL 1714490, at *3 (Iowa Ct. App. Apr. 30, 2014) (finding the context given by the prosecutor was appropriate and did not breach the plea).

The State explained that the victim's request for a suspended sentence so that Patten could have a relationship with his daughter motivated the State to agree to recommend one. It also explained that such a request ordinarily would not "drive the State's recommendation." Sent. Tr. P.5 Ls.9-17. In other words, the State would not recommend a suspended sentence based on such a request if it did not feel it was appropriate for that particular defendant. The

State emphasized that the suspended sentence recommendation was conditioned on Patten obtaining a mental health evaluation within 90 days and completing any recommended treatment. Sent. Tr. P.5 Ls.18-25. Further, the fact that the plea agreement included a recommendation of consecutive sentences on each count shows the State's commitment to punishing Patten if he is not successful on probation and reinforces the "give and take" nature of the negotiation. Written Plea; App. 8-11.

The State gave its full support to the recommendation contemplated by the plea agreement. It did not mention that the presentence investigator recommended incarceration. It did not mention that the district court was not bound by the agreement. It did not mention that Patten committed the offenses while on supervision for a prior offense, although the district court considered that fact significant. Sent. Tr. P.20 Ls.10-22. It also did not mention the terrifying and violent nature of Patten's offenses. In short, the State neither explicitly nor implicitly expressed a material reservation about the agreement. It complied with the letter and the spirit of the agreement, and Patten was not denied the benefit he bargained for

despite the sentence he received. Patten has failed to establish a breach of the plea agreement.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Patten's sentence should be affirmed.

REQUEST FOR NONORAL SUBMISSION

Nonoral submission is appropriate for this case.